IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,181

ALLIED-SIGNAL INC.,)
formerly known as GARRET)
AIRESEARCH MANUFACTURING)
COMPANY OF CALIFORNIA,	
Appellant,	ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THEUNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
vs.) FOR THE
KEVIN FOX,) <u>ELEVENTH CIRCUIT</u>) Florida Bar No. 333761
Appellee.))

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, ALLIED-SIGNAL, INC.

THORNTON, DAVID, MURRAY, RICHARD & DAVIS, P.A.

By: Kathleen M. O'Connor Attorneys for Appellant ALLIED-SIGNAL INC. 2950 S.W. 27th Avenue, Suite 100 Miami, FL 33133 (305) 446-2646

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This product liability action was filed by Plaintiff-Appellee, Kevin Fox ("Fox"), in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida. (R1-1)¹ Fox sued Allied-Signal, Inc. ("Allied"), a fan manufacturer, alleging negligence for injuries to his fingers which occurred in an accident at his workplace. (R1-5)² The case was tried before a jury for two days. (R1-18; R1-19).

Although Fox's employer, Eastern Airlines, was not joined as a party defendant because of statutory immunity under the Florida Workers' Compensation Act, Section 440.11, Florida Statutes (1989), the evidence demonstrated that Eastern was at fault in causing Fox's injury by permitting the blades on the fan in question to be exposed. (R2-17-19, 22-23, 29; R3-20) In fact, the trial court instructed the jury that operation of the fan without a screen is in violation of federal law governing an employer's responsibility for employee safety in the workplace. Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (OSHA), 29 U.S.C. § 654 (West 1985), 29 C.F.R. § 1910.212 (1991). Specifically, under OSHA, Fox and his employer were required to, but did not, install a guard on the fan to prevent exposure to the fan blades. (R1-20-10-11) In addition, because Fox was employed during a strike against Eastern, and had only been on the job for a short period of time, the evidence raised a question as to whether Eastern had adequately trained Fox as a mechanic.

Record references are to the record transmitted by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. References to the documents in the court file are to the volume, document number and page number, i.e. R1-1-1; references to the trial transcript are to the volume and page number, i.e. R2-1.

The amended complaint will be referenced as the operative pleading.

Allied requested that the jury be permitted to consider and assess the percentage of Eastern's fault in apportioning the fault of the parties to the suit. (R1-20-23-24) Allied submitted a proposed jury verdict form which included a place for the jury to apportion Eastern's fault. (R1-20-23-24) Allied argued that such a procedure was required under Florida's Tort Reform Act, Section 768.81, Florida Statutes (1989). The trial court denied the request and the jury was only permitted to apportion the fault of the parties to the suit, Fox and Allied. (R1-21)

The jury returned a verdict finding Fox thirty percent (30%) negligent and Allied seventy percent (70%) negligent and assessing damages of \$350,000.00. (R1-21) The trial court reduced the award by the amount of Fox's comparative negligence and entered an amended final judgment for Fox in the amount of \$245,000.00. (R1-25)

Allied's motion for new trial was denied and an appeal ensued to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. (R1-27; R1-28; R1-42; R1-43) During the pendency of the appeal, Florida's Fifth District Court of Appeal decided *Messmer v. Teachers Insurance Co.*, 588 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), *rev. denied*, 598 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1992), and ruled that Section 768.81, Florida Statutes, requires consideration of a non-party's fault in apportioning liability of the parties to the suit.³ Just prior to oral argument before the Eleventh Circuit, the Third District Court of Appeal held that the liability of a non-party should not be considered in apportioning liability of parties to a suit. *Fabre v. Marin*, 597 So. 2d 883 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992).⁴

This Court denied review in Messmer.

The Fabre case is presently pending before this Court. See Consolidated Case Nos. 79,870 and 79,869.

Based on the conflict of decisions between the Fifth and Third Districts, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals certified the following issue to this Court, pursuant to Article 5, Section 3(b)(6) of the Florida Constitution and Rule 9.150, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure:

Whether the interpretation of Fla. Stat. § 768.81(3) (1989) requires consideration by the jury of a non-party's comparative fault in order to determine a party's liability?

Fox v. Allied-Signal Inc., 966 F.2d 626 (11th Cir. 1992).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 9, 1990, Kevin Fox, a mechanic at Eastern Airlines, was injured when his fingers were caught in the rotating blades of a fan he was servicing. The fan, model number 73FA18, was manufactured by Allied-Signal, Inc. Fox was employed as a general mechanic by Eastern Airlines during a strike in 1989. (R2-8, R3-7) When Fox was first hired by Eastern, he testified that he and about 100 other new hirees were put through a two and a half day indoctrination session, which consisted of instruction on Eastern's manuals and procedures. (R2-8) He was not given any formal training as a mechanic by Eastern. (R2-9) Fox testified that, in accordance with the normal routine at Eastern, he would be given a part to service or repair and a manual for reference. (R2-9) In mid-February of 1990, Fox first began working on fans. (R2-10) Fox had been working on fans for approximately three weeks prior to his accident. (R2-12)

On the date of the accident, Fox testified that he followed the procedures in the manual provided by Eastern, and that the manual did not call for use of a screen when testing the fan. (R2-17-19) The manual included instructions from the manufacturer. (R2-21) Fox testified

that after servicing the fan, he let it run for approximately ten minutes. He was preparing to perform a speed test, when he reached over to the left side of the fan to pick up a strobe light, which was used for checking the speed. (R2-23) Fox testified that as his left hand passed the outer rim of the fan it was sucked into the fan blades. (R2-24) Four fingers on the hand were injured. (R2-25-26)

Fox's supervisor testified that in training Fox to work on fans he instructed Fox to always use a safety screen. (R3-14-15) The supervisor testified that it was Eastern's policy to require use of a safety screen when testing fans and that use of a screen was mandated by OSHA. (R3-15) The supervisor testified that the purpose of a screen is to prevent the mechanic from being injured, as well as to keep objects from getting into the fan. (R3-17)

Although evidence of Eastern's negligence was presented to the jury, the trial court did not permit the jury to apportion any fault for Fox's accident to Eastern.

ISSUE

WHETHER, IN DETERMINING A PARTY'S "PERCENTAGE OF FAULT" PURSUANT TO SECTION 768.81(3), FLORIDA STATUTES, IT IS NECESSARY TO CONSIDER THE FAULT OF ALL PARTIES INVOLVED IN AN ACCIDENT, NOT JUST THOSE PARTIES NAMED AS DEFENDANTS IN A LAWSUIT.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiff Fox was injured while on the job when his fingers were caught in a fan which was not covered with a protective screen to shield the blades. The evidence at trial demonstrated that Fox's employer, Eastern Airlines, violated the federal Occupational Health and Safety Act by failing to ensure the safety of its employees when it allowed fan blades to be exposed. Eastern, however, could not be sued by Fox because he obtained Workers'

Compensation benefits and therefore, was precluded from bringing suit by the Florida Workers' Compensation Act. Accordingly, Allied, the manufacturer of the fan, was the only named party defendant.

Allied argued to the trial court that the jury should be allowed to consider the fault of Eastern, the non-party joint tortfeasor, under Section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes, which is part of the comprehensive Tort Reform Act. That statute requires that the court enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage of fault, and not on the basis of joint and several liability. The trial court refused to allow the jury to apportion the fault of the non-party.

Subsequent to the trial court's denial of Allied's motion for new trial, the Fifth District Court of Appeal of Florida addressed the question of whether Section 768.81, Florida Statutes mandates consideration of a non-party's comparative fault in apportioning the liability of the parties to the suit. In *Messmer v. Teacher's Insurance Co.*, 588 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), rev. denied, 598 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1992), the court answered the question in the affirmative holding that a party to the lawsuit is only liable for its percentage share of the fault. The conclusion in *Messmer* is supported by the unambiguous language of the statute and the legislative intent to completely abolish joint and several liability for non-economic damages and partially abolish the doctrine for economic damages.

Subsequently, in *Fabre v. Marin*, 597 So. 2d 883 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), the Third District Court of Appeal held that the liability of a non-party could not be considered in apportioning liability of parties to a lawsuit. The court found that the term "party," as used in Section 768.81(3) was ambiguous. The court incorrectly concluded that because the statute

directs a court to "enter judgment against each party liable," the statute only permits apportionment among parties to a lawsuit, because a court has no jurisdiction to enter a judgment against a non-party. The appellant is not, however, contending that a court should enter judgment against a non-party. The statute provides that a judgment must be based on a party's "percentage of fault," and it is impossible to determine that percentage without considering the fault of all parties involved in an accident. In *Fabre*, the court disregarded the clear and unambiguous language of Section 768.81(3) and concluded that a party should be held liable for more that its "percentage of fault."

Courts in other jurisdictions have recognized that true apportionment must include consideration of the fault of all parties involved in an accident. In considering a statute virtually identical to Section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes, the California Supreme Court unanimously held that the statute was unambiguous and required consideration of all fault responsible for a plaintiff's injuries, not just the fault of defendants present in a lawsuit.

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should answer the certified question from the Eleventh Circuit in the affirmative and hold that Section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes, requires consideration of a non-party's fault in order to accurately determine a party defendant's "percentage of fault."

ARGUMENT

IN DETERMINING A PARTY'S "PERCENTAGE OF FAULT" PURSUANT TO SECTION 768.81(3), FLORIDA STATUTES, IT IS NECESSARY TO CONSIDER THE FAULT OF ALL PARTIES INVOLVED IN AN ACCIDENT, NOT JUST THOSE PARTIES NAMED AS DEFENDANTS IN A LAWSUIT.

In 1986, Florida enacted Section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes (1989), which is part of a comprehensive Tort Reform Act. That section provides:

(3) APPORTIONMENT OF DAMAGES. - In cases to which this section applies, the court shall enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage of fault and not on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability; provided that with respect to any party whose percentage of fault equals or exceeds that of a particular claimant, the court shall enter judgment with respect to economic damages against that party on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability.

Under the Act, "the court shall enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage of fault." Section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes (emphasis added). The language of the statute completely abolished joint and several liability for non-economic damages and partially abolished joint and several liability for economic damages.

Two District Courts of Appeal in Florida have considered whether Section 768.81(3) permits consideration of a non-party's fault in apportioning the liability of party defendants. The Fifth District ruled that a non-party's fault could be considered in *Messmer v. Teacher's Insurance Co.*, 588 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), rev. denied, 598 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1992). The Third District held to the contrary in *Fabre v. Marin*, 597 So. 2d 883 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). Appellant will show the Court that the *Messmer* case was correctly decided and should be approved by this Court.

A. The case of Messmer v. Teacher's Insurance Co. was correctly decided.

In Messmer v. Teacher's Insurance Co., 588 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), rev. denied, 598 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1992), the Fifth District Court of Appeal of Florida held that the language of Section 768.81(3) mandates apportionment based upon fault. In Messmer, plaintiff was in an automobile accident while riding as a passenger with her husband. The driver of the other vehicle had no liability insurance and therefore, plaintiff filed a claim against her uninsured motorist carrier. The claim was submitted to arbitration which resulted in an award

in favor of plaintiff. The arbitrators, however, had determined that the uninsured motorist was only twenty percent at fault, while plaintiff's husband was eighty percent at fault. Accordingly, in the proceeding to enforce her award, the trial court found that the insurance company was only responsible for the uninsured motorist's percentage of fault - twenty percent. The Fifth District upheld the ruling, finding that Section 768.81, Florida Statutes requires apportionment according to *fault* rather than *joint and several liability* for the total amount of plaintiff's damages. On appeal, the plaintiff argued that the term "party" as used in the statute meant party to the lawsuit. The court rejected that argument stating:

The use of the word 'party' simply describes an entity against whom judgment is to be entered and is not intended as a word of limitation. Had the legislature intended the apportionment computation to be limited to the combined negligence of those who happened to be parties to the proceeding, it would have so stated. The plain meaning of the word percentage is a proportionate share of the whole, and this meaning should apply in the absence of any language altering or limiting the plain meaning. See Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217 (Fla. 1984).

Messmer, 588 So. 2d at 611-12. Therefore, the court correctly focused upon the term "percentage," and held that "a party's percentage of the total fault of all participants in the accident is the operative percentage to be considered." *Id*.

The appellate court also based its opinion on the legislative intent behind the statute, which "was to implement a system of equating fault with liability" and to partially abrogate joint and several liability. *Messmer*, 588 So. 2d at 612. Under joint and several liability, a Plaintiff is permitted to recover one hundred percent of his damages from any of several joint tortfeasors, whether or not one tortfeasor is more or less at fault than the others. *See generally* Prosser and Keeton, *The Law of Torts* 322-28 (W. Keeton 5th ed. 1984). The Florida legislature amended Section 768.81 to partially abrogate joint and several liability as part of a

larger effort to alleviate the tort and liability insurance crisis. 1986 Fla. Sess. Law Serv. 86-160 (West). Thus, the court in *Messmer* reasoned:

The obvious purpose of the statute was to partially abrogate the doctrine of joint and several liability by barring its application to non-economic damage. To exclude from the computation the fault of an entity that happens not to be a party to the particular proceeding would thwart this intent. The subject case is a perfect example. If the court were to adopt plaintiff's view, although defendant was only chargeable with 20% of the fault, it would be required to pay 100% of the damages, both economic and non-economic. This becomes the equivalent of joint and several liability, which the legislature obviously was intending to eliminate.

Messmer, 588 So. 2d at 612.

In Messmer, the court also noted that the legislative intent was reflected by this court's pronouncement in Conley v. Boyle Drug Co., 570 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 1990), which adopted a market share theory of liability in DES cases. In Conley, the court determined that a drug company should be held liable only for its percentage share of the damages, recognizing that such a result is required under Section 768.81. In effect, the court in Conley recognized that the market share approach could result in a plaintiff recovering less than his entire amount of damages assuming all party defendants proved their actual degree of fault or "share." See Messmer, 588 So. 2d at 612.

Furthermore, in *Messmer* as here, the non-party was immune from suit. Nevertheless, the *Messmer* court held "the fact that [one] is not amenable to suit because of interspousal immunity (or any other ground) is irrelevant." *Messmer*, 588 So. 2d at 612 (emphasis added); accord Prosser, supra, at 475-76 ("the failure to consider the negligence of all tortfeasors, whether parties or not, prejudices the joined defendants who are thus required to bear a greater portion of the plaintiff's loss than is attributable to their fault.")

B. The case of Fabre v. Marin was wrongly decided.

In Fabre v. Marin, 597 So. 2d 883 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), a jury determined that the plaintiff's husband was fifty percent at fault for the injuries she sustained as a passenger in his automobile and that the defendant, Marin, the driver of the automobile which cut off the Fabre vehicle in traffic was fifty percent at fault. Mrs. Marin could not sue her husband because of the doctrine of interspousal immunity. The trial court refused to limit the defendant's liability to 50% of the damages awarded, and the Third District affirmed.

In Fabre, the Third District Court of Appeal ruled that Section 768.81(3) does not permit consideration of the fault of a non-party in determining the percentage of fault of parties to a lawsuit. The court reached this conclusion by holding that the statute was ambiguous. In particular, the court found that the term "party" was ambiguous, as used in Section 768.81(3), which provides:

In cases to which this section applies, the court shall enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage of fault and not on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability. . . . "

597 So. 2d at 885.

The court found that the term "party" did not refer to all persons involved in an accident because a court lacks jurisdiction to enter a judgment against non-parties. The court simply missed the point. No defendants are contending that any court should enter judgment against a non-party. What the defendants do contend is that it is impossible to determine a party defendant's percentage of fault, as required by the statute, without taking into consideration the fault of all parties involved in an accident.

In Fabre, the court correctly noted that, "the legislature promulgated subsection three to limit liability to a defendant's degree of fault." Id. Despite recognition of that clear legislative intent, the court incorrectly rejected the argument that "the judgment against [defendants] should be equated to their percentage of fault." In refusing to limit liability to the defendant's percentage of fault, the court stated, "We do not agree that the legislature's intent in promulgating this subsection was to deprive a fault-free innocent plaintiff of recovery." Id. The court noted that subparagraph (2) of Section 768.81 provides for reduction of a claimant's award by the percentage of the claimant's contributory negligence. The court was apparently of the opinion that in every instance a fault-free plaintiff should recover one hundred percent of his or her damages and that a plaintiff's recovery may not be diminished by any amount except the percentage of the plaintiff's own fault. The court stated that the "legislature provides for a reduction in the claimant's recovery only as a result of the claimant's own fault." Id.

Subsection (2) is simply a codification of *Hoffman v. Jones*, 280 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 1973), in which this court adopted the doctrine of comparative negligence. It is not a legislative guarantee that a fault-free plaintiff will always recover one hundred percent of his or her damages. In *Fabre*, the court overlooked the fact that there are many situations where a "fault-free innocent plaintiff" does not recover one hundred percent of his or her damages. For instance, where a claimant is injured due to the negligence of an uninsured judgment-proof tortfeasor, that "fault-free innocent plaintiff" will recover zero percentage of his or her damages. Based on the decision in *Fabre*, and based on the doctrine of joint and several

In the case at bar, the jury found the plaintiff was 30% at fault. The jury was not permitted to determine the fault of plaintiff's employer, Eastern.

liability, if a claimant sues a defendant that is even one percent liable, the plaintiff will get a windfall and recover one hundred percent of his or her damages.

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