IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE
DEC 4 1992
CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

Case No. 80,181

ALLIED-SIGNAL, INC., formerly known as GARRET AIRESEARCH MANUFACTURING COMPANY OF CALIFORNIA

Appellant,

vs.

KEVIN FOX,

Appellee.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, KEVIN FOX

G. WILLIAM BISSETT, ESQ. HARDY & BISSETT, P.A. Attorneys for Appellee 501 Northeast First Avenue Miami, Florida 33132 (305) 358-6200 Florida Bar No. 297127

N.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

This Court should answer the question certified by the Eleventh Circuit in the negative, holding that §768.81(3) was not intended by the Florida Legislature to create a non-party appor-The words utilized in the statute itself, tionment defense. which statute is in derogation of the common law and therefore must be strictly construed, do not expressly state that in entering "judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage of fault" the party's percentage of fault is to be compared with or take into consideration "non-parties to the lawsuit." It is only by reading words into the statute itself that a conclusion in favor of Allied can be reached. Florida, it has traditionally been improper to require the jury to determine by special verdict interrogatory whether a non-party to the suit was negligent, and if so, the degree of such negli-In the six years that §768.81(3) has been on the books, the only revisions to the Florida Standard Jury Instructions and Verdict Forms which have been approved indicate that the "apportionment of damages" contemplated by §768.81(3) is an apportionment based only upon the comparative fault of the parties to the lawsuit. See, In Re Standard Jury Instructions, 540 So.2d 825, 829 (Fla. 1989) (approving additions to Florida Standard Jury Instruction 6.1b).

Since the statute at issue is ambiguous, resolution of the certified question requires application of at least three settled rules of statutory construction. Application of those three

settled rules of statutory construction require this Court to read the statute as narrowly as possible, that is to define and interpret §768.81(3) as requiring a comparison of the percentages of fault of the parties to the lawsuit only, without allocation of any responsibility to non-parties to the suit. The goal of statutory construction is to determine the legislative intent, and in determining such intent, it is appropriate to look to legislative history. The available legislative history relating to the enactment of §768.81(3) fully supports our construction, not the construction advocated by Allied.

The second rule of statutory construction which is implicated here is that a statute in derogation of the common law is to be strictly construed so as to do as little damage to the common law as possible. Therefore, the common law will not be found to have been abrogated or altered unless a statute clearly and explicitly announces such a legislative intent. The construction of the statute proposed by Allied runs rampant over numerous areas of the common law. Our proposed construction of the statute, in contrast, does only limited damage to the existing common law.

The third rule of statutory construction to be applied here is that repeals by implication are not favored, and that two or more statutes should be construed in such a way as to preserve the force and area of operation of each and to render them consistent and harmonious, if at all possible. This rule squarely impacts on the instant issue because, when it enacted §768.81(3), the Legislature did not repeal any of several existing statutes which became plainly inconsistent with §768.81(3) if Allied's proposed construction is adopted.

Indeed, in §768.71(3), Florida Statutes, the Legislature provided that if §768.81(3) was "in conflict with any other provision of the Florida Statutes, such other provision shall apply." The interpretation of §768.81(3) being advanced by Allied either directly conflicts with or otherwise renders meaningless the Contribution Statute, various set off statutes, and, most importantly, with §440.39, which provides for worker's compensation liens to be asserted against employees' recoveries from All of these various considerations third-party tortfeasors. compel the conclusion that the proper interpretation of the Apportionment of Damages Statute is the most narrow interpretation, that is our interpretation under which the comparative fault of non-parties to a lawsuit are not material in determining the extent of a named defendant's ultimate liability to the plaintiff.

II.

Fox additionally argues that if this Court decides to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction so as to answer the question certified by the Eleventh Circuit, then it should also proceed to determine all other issues in the case related to the certified question. Determination of the certified question in the abstract will not be "determinative of the cause" (as Article V, §3(b)(6) requires) unless this Court also proceeds to determine whether under the facts presented, Allied is entitled to a new trial.

In this regard, Allied is not entitled to a new trial on liability since even if this Court holds that a non-party appor-

tionment affirmative defense exists by virtue of §768.81(3), Allied nevertheless did not sufficiently present that affirmative defense in the trial court by way of any requested special jury instructions, nor did it adduce sufficient competent evidence to create an issue of fact on that affirmative defense.

ARGUMENT

T.

THE THIS COURT SHOULD ANSWER CERTIFIED THE NEGATIVE AND HOLD THAT OUESTION IN §768.81(3), FLORIDA STATUTES, DOES NOT ENTITLE A PARTY DEFENDANT TO PARTIALLY REDUCE LIABILITY TO THE PLAINTIFF ON THE BASIS OF THE OF NON-PARTY TO COMPARATIVE FAULT Α THE LAWSUIT.

(A)

Introduction

Allied (and its numerous amici) contend that the trial court committed reversible error in preventing Allied from presenting a non-party apportionment affirmative defense to the jury. Allied's argument with respect to the interpretation and application of \$768.81(3), Florida Statutes, is both superficial and simplistic, and understandably ignores the exceptional complexity of the various questions which must be addressed in resolving the certified question. Allied's view regarding the interpretation and application of §768.81(3) must be carefully analyzed, since numerous profound changes in existing law are implicated.

Allied premises its "non-party" apportionment defense on Florida Statute §768.81(3), which provides that:

(3) Apportionment of Damages. - In cases to which this section applies, the court shall enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage of fault and not on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability; provided that with respect to any party whose percentage of fault equals or exceeds that of a particular claimant, the court shall enter judgment with respect to economic damages against that party on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability.

Without any reference to the specific wording of the statute itself, Allied posits that the statute mandates that the liabi-

lity of all "joint tortfeasors" be apportioned so that one tortfeasor does not bear a greater amount of the damages simply
because the other tortfeasors were not joined as parties. The
"mandate" to which Allied alludes certainly cannot be gleaned
from the actual words utilized in the statute itself.

The statute itself directs its focus to a "party", a "party liable" and the "entry of judgment." The statute contains no hint that the Florida Legislature intended to allow "a party liable," such as Allied, to reduce its legal obligation to the claimant by the percentage of negligence, if any, attributable to "non-parties" (i.e. - entities or individuals as to which the court is not being asked "to enter a judgment"). See, Fabre v. Marin, 597 So.2d 883, 885-86 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). question, the Legislature in utilizing the term "party" was referring to "party defendants." Fabre, 597 So.2d at 885-86.8 Cf., Smith v. Department of Insurance, 507 So.2d 1080, 1090-91 (Fla. 1987) (where, in discussing the three categories of exceptions to the Legislature's abrogation of the doctrine of joint and several liability in §768.81(3), the court noted that "joint and several liability shall still apply for economic damages 'with respect to any party [defendant] whose percentage of fault equals or exceeds that of a particular claimant.'" [Bracketed portion of quote contained in original]).

⁷It is important to note that in making this argument, Allied apparently overlooks the fact that under Florida substantive law, Fox's employer, Eastern, is not considered to be a "joint tortfeasor." See, Seaboard Coast Line R.R. Co. v. Smith, 359 So.2d 427, 429 (Fla. 1978).

⁸We do recognize that Allied's position regarding the interpretation and application of §768.81(3) finds support in the decision and opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in

Allied and its <u>amici</u> contend that §768.81(3) is plain and unambiguous, but it clearly is not. The statute was properly found to be ambiguous by the Third District in <u>Fabre</u>. Although the statute provides for the assessment of liability "on the basis of such party's percentage of fault," it nowhere defines "the whole" by which the "party's percentage" is to be determined. One cannot "determine a percentage" without knowing what "the whole" is of which the percentage constitutes only a part. Here, "the whole" has nowhere been directly or by reasonable inference defined by the statute. It is therefore incumbent upon this Court to determine what constitutes "the whole" from which a "party's percentage of fault" is to be determined.

There are multiple reasons which inexorably lead to the correct conclusion, the one reached by the Third District in <u>Fabre</u>, that: "the legislature, in discarding joint and several liability, intended to apportion liability among defendant tortfeasors to the extent each was determined to be at fault" (e.s.). [597 So.2d at 886].

(B)

Settled Rules of Statutory Construction Require a Narrow Construction of §768.81(3), Limiting Its Application to Parties to the Lawsuit

Messmer v. Teachers Ins. Co., 588 So.2d 610 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). In that opinion, the Fifth District found that "the language of the statute supports defendant's contention that a party's percentage of the total fault of all participants in the accident is the operative percentage to be considered." We believe, however, that Messmer was wrongly decided and will not ultimately represent Florida law on the subject. (See, Argument Section I.C. infra).

⁹Although the district court in <u>Fabre</u> identified the absence of a definition of "the whole" as one ambiguity in the statute, it also found ambiguity in the absence of any definition of the word

The Statute is Ambiguous

We believe that one must initially conclude, as the Third District correctly did in <u>Fabre</u>, that the statute at issue is ambiguous. Two different district courts of appeal have construed the statute, with diametrically opposed results. The Eleventh Circuit in this case likewise felt there was ambiguity in the statute since it has certified a question which asks for the correct "interpretation of" §768.81(3).

Contrary to Allied's assertion, the statute at issue is not plain and unambiguous. This is most easily demonstrated by comparing Florida's statute with the various provisions which other state legislatures have drafted. Some states have drafted comparative fault statutes similar form in the to Uniform Comparative Fault Act, under which the jury is directed to apportion only between claimants, named defendants, persons who have been released from the action, and third-party defendants -- they expressly exclude all others. See, e.g., 12 Unif. Laws Ann. p. 42 (1992 Supp.); Selchert v. State, 420 N.W.2d 816, 4 ALR 5th 1129 (Iowa 1988); Lake v. Construction Machinery, Inc., P.2d 1027 (Alaska 1990); Conn. Gen. Statutes Ann. §52-572h. See generally, Wade, "Should Joint and Several Liability of

[&]quot;party." The two ambiguities identified by the district court are simply two ways of looking at a single, larger ambiguity. As a result, and for ease of discussion, we will focus in the text on the statute's absence of a definition of "the whole," and simply adopt the district court's decision in Fabre for our argument on the additional ambiguity which may be inherent in the statute's lack of a definition of the word "party."

Multiple Tortfeasors be Abolished?", 10 Am.Jur. <u>Trial Advocate</u>
193 (1986).

In other states, legislatures have determined that apportionment of responsibility should extend beyond consideration of only the negligence of the claimants, named defendants, persons who have been released from the action, and third-party defendants, so as to include consideration of the negligence of non-parties. However, the legislatures in these states have specifically and unambiguously provided for such a result. See, e.g., §12-2506B Ariz. Statutes (1991) (which provides that "[i]n assessing percentages of fault the trier of fact shall consider the fault of all persons who contributed to the alleged injury, death or damage to property, regardless of whether the person was, or could have been, named as a party to the suit").

If the Florida Legislature had intended to factor a non-party's negligence into the apportionment equation, it could have very easily done so in express language. The Comparative Fault Act adopted in Indiana in 1983 provides a prime example. Unlike §768.81(3), Indiana's legislation specifically provides for consideration of the negligence of a non-party:

The jury shall determine the percentage of fault of the claimant, of the primary defendant, and of any person who is a non-party and whose fault contributed to cause of death, injury or property damages for which suit is brought. The percentage of fault figures of parties to the action may total less than one hundred percent (100%) if the jury finds that fault contributing to cause the claimant's loss has also come from persons who are not parties to the action.

Ind. Code §34-4-33-5(a)(1) (1984). Indiana's Act requires the jury verdict to state the name of any non-party to whom fault is

allocated and the percentage of that fault, and it properly recognizes that a "non-party" shall not include the employer of the claimant. Ind. Code §34-4-33-2(a) and §34-4-33-6 (1984). Finally, the Indiana Act states that the burden of proof on a non-party defense is upon the defendant. Ind. Code §34-4-33-10 (1984).

The wording of §768.81(3) is obviously a far stretch from the very specific language utilized by the Indiana Legislature. Nevertheless, the court in Messmer, without any in-depth analysis or consideration of how other courts across this country have approached the issue, read §768.81(3) to provide for the same non-party apportionment defense as that specifically set forth in the Indiana Act. Such a radical break with past law on an issue as substantial as this should not be lightly undertaken. of the manner in which numerous other courts across this country have treated the issue militates against this Court adopting the simplistic and erroneous result reached by the Fifth District in Messmer. See, Lake v. Construction Machinery, Inc., 787 P.2d 1027 (Alaska 1990); National Farmers Union Property (Colo. Casualty Co. v. Frackelton, 662 P.2d 1056 1983), Jarrett v. Dunkin Thecker Assoc., 417 A.2d 1064 (Super. Ct. N.J. 1980); Ramos v. Browning Ferris Industries, 476 A.2d 304 (Super. Ct. N.J. 1984); Mills v. Brown, 735 P.2d 603 1987); Sugue v. F.L. Smithe Machine Co., 546 P.2d 527 (Haw. 1976); Correia v. The Firestone Tire and Rubber Company, Heckendorn v. Consolidated Rail NE.2d 1033 (Mass. 1983); Corporation, 465 A.2d 609 (Pa. 1983).

The Rules of Statutory Construction Require a Strict, Narrow Construction of §768.81(3)

Section 768.81(3) does not mention the word "non-party" at any point. Instead, it only utilizes the word "party," and it utilizes that word four separate times. Although the legislature's repeated use of the word "party" does not compel any particular definition of "the whole" from which a "party's percentage of fault" should be determined, the legislature's repeated use of the word "party," coupled with its failure to refer to "non-parties" at any point, at least suggests that the legislature probably did not intend the more expansive definition of "the whole" urged here by Allied.

In situations where statutory "construction" or "interpretation" is necessary, the courts are called upon to determine the legislative intent. When a statute is ambiguous, such as here, it is appropriate to consult that statute's legislative history for assistance in determining its meaning.

See, 49 Fla. Jur.2d, Statutes, §§114, 157, 160 (and numerous decisions cited therein). The available legislative history with respect to the statute at issue is the Legislative Staff Analysis of Chapter 86-160 (and the bills which created it). The Final Staff Analysis of Chapter 86-160 prepared by the House Committee

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